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Historic Functions
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DOMESTIC: Single Dwelling

DOMESTIC: Multiple Dwelling

Current Functions
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RECREATION/CULTURE: Museum

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions.)

OTHER: Vernacular Double-Cell House

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions.)

foundation: STONE: Limestone

walls: STONE: Limestone
BRICK

roof: ~WOOD: Shingle

other:
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Narrative Description

Summary

The John & Mary Ritchie House is located at 1116 SE Madison Street, Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas
(Figures 1 & 2). It is located on a rise just west of the Shunganunga Creek and within a few hundred feet of
Interstate 70, which passes through downtown Topeka. It is the northernmost house in a row of six residences
along the east side of SE Madison Street. When the City of Topeka was surveyed and platted in 1870, the
building site was designated as lot number 376 in the Ritchie Addition. There are onI%/ a few remaining houses
across the street in the same 1100 block, most dating from the late 19" and early 20" centuries.

The Ritchie House is an excellent and rare surviving example of the mid-19th-century vernacular house type
known as a double-cell with two rooms of roughly equal size on each level arranged one behind the other with
an end opening in the partition wall within the main body of the structure. The building faces west on Madison
Street and is constructed of rubble limestone walls. The west (front) elevation is distinguished by a full facade
layer of brick applied over the limestone with decorative brick quoins at the corners. The truncated wood
shingle roof is topped by a brick chimney. The windows are six-over-six, double-hung wood units. The entry
doors to the first level are located on the west (front) and east (rear) elevations. A third door on the south
elevation also remains. An end entry door to the second level on the west (front) elevation remains, though it
is not accessed by a stair. The adjacent residence built by Hale Ritchie has been rehabilitated to serve as a
museum and education center for the site. The nominated property includes the only surviving building in
Topeka associated with John & Mary Ritchie.

Elaboration
Recent Background

The Shawnee County Historical Society (SCHS) acquired the Ritchie House in 1995 with the intention of
restoring it to its late 19" century appearance, as it looked near the end of John Ritchie’s life (Figure 3). The
organization went to considerable lengths to study the building and site, resulting in a series of reports
produced in 1998. Key among these reports were Marsha King’'s Results of Archeology Investigations at 1116
SE Madison (14SH370) Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas and Patrick Sumner’s The Ritchie House, 1116
Madison: A Preliminary Structural and Materials Analysis. A supplemental report to Sumner’s analysis was
produced as well. As these reports document, when the SCHS acquired the building, it was clad in stucco and
had a one-story, full-width front porch and a rear addition (Figure 4). These non-historic features were
removed during the subsequent restoration that occurred between 1999 and 2003. The following description of
the building reflects its appearance at the time of nomination to the National Register in 2015.

Challenges in Establishing a Date or Dates of Construction

The construction of the nominated building pre-dates many of the conventional records useful for establishing
a building date, such as city directories, tax records, building permits, and fire insurance maps. Marsha King
notes in her 1998 report, “Few records were found during the archival background search which shed any light
on the construction date or Ritchie family occupation of the house at 1116 SE Madison.”® Searches through
extant journals and writings of Ritchie’s contemporaries such as Dr. Franklin Loomis Crane provide no
information on the structure. As a result, establishing a precise date of construction and occupancy with any
degree of accuracy is not possible. The building, or part of the building, could have been built as early as the
summer or fall of 1856 following the Ritchies’ first winter in Kansas Territory. It was not until June 1858 that

! Ritchie originally spelled his last name as Ritchey. By spring of 1860, however, his last name starts appearing as
Ritchie. No reason for the change in spelling is known.
? Marsha King, Results of Archeological Investigations at 1116 SE Madison (14SH370) Topeka, Shawnee County,
Kansas (August 24, 1998): 40. Report on file at Archeology Office, Kansas State Historical Society
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the United States government conveyed the land on which the building sits to Ritchie, and it is not until 1868
that a precise date appears for any of the building materials extant in the structure.®

Nevertheless, research strongly suggests that this building existed in much of its current form prior to 1868,
given the trade stencils/stamps found on structural lumber within the house. In his supplemental report, Patrick
Sumner acknowledges that “the utilization of material analysis in tracing a specific time period for dating a
buildings [sic] initial construction can open up as many questions as it solves.” Still, discussion of materials as
they relate to the available historic record informs our understanding of the building. Trade stencils appearing
on the joists and sub-flooring suggest this feature was constructed between 1868 and 1870, which coincides
with the house’s first appearance in the Topeka City Directory in 1868-1869.° The stencils bear the names of
three companies: Topeka lumber dealer John Wayne and Company; Leavenworth lumber dealer H. D. Rush;
and Topeka builder Hugo Kullak. According to Sumner’'s 1998 structural report, the floor and sub-flooring
system may be an early replacement that was added to the house later than the construction of the walls. The
report suggests several indicators in the basement that point to this possibility:
The presence of similarly hand tooled wooden lintels above the side windows in both the east and west
rooms support the conjecture that both rooms date from the same initial phase of construction. These
elements are some of the oldest peices [sic] of individual materials found in the structure. On the other
hand, there are elements of the flooring structure that seem incongruous with the overall logic of the
house’s structural system. For instance, the floor system is hung to rather than intrinched [sic] into the
walls. The floor system is hung by a rimmed joist that is nailed to joist stubs that are entrenched into the
masonry walls. The question that arises is: why don’t the floor joists run into the masonry wall as the
ceiling joists do in the attic?...Perhaps these stubs are remnants of an earlier ceiling system of a dugout
house, og are remnants of an earlier floor system that was replaced because of fire or other severe
damage.
While the trade stencils provide a clear window of time during which the flooring system was likely built (1868-
1870), it does not necessarily follow that the same window of time can be used to assign a date of
construction to the entire building. As Sumner argues in his Supplemental Report, “Certain evidence in the
basement of the house, especially the unusually hung floor, may still indicate that the house existed in
substantial form prior to the date of the existing stencils. Suggestion that the flooring systems in the house
were replacements or upgrades begs the question of why. Why would such extensive remodeling have been
done.”’

Other sources have been used in the debate about when the building was constructed, with little resolution to
the matter. Reverend Lewis Bodwell’s rough sketch plan of the place Ritchie killed Deputy Marshal Leonard
Arms — at Ritchie’s house. Bodwell’s sketch, included in a letter dated April 27, 1860, shows a two-room floor
plan with one room behind the other with a door in the west room and one on the south side of the east room
leading to a shed or room addition, as well as an exterlor door leading out of the shed, a general configuration
that matches the Madison Street property (Figure 5).° Topeka founder and contemporary of Ritchie, Fry W.
Giles also recalled the encounter in his 1886 history of the city, notlng that “Col. Ritchie resided on the
southern border of the town, a little to the east of his present residence”® referring to a house occupied by the
Ritchies around 1868 several blocks to the west of the Madison Street house. Multiple period accounts and
later recollections of the 1850s-1860s era Ritchie residence prowde provoking details, again, with little
resolution to the matter of when the building was constructed.® Much like the limitations of studying the

Abstract of Title, Northeast Quarter Section 6, Township 12, Range 16 (Partial copy on file with nomination).
Sumner Material and Structural Analysis 1116 Madison: Supplemental Report, 1.

Topeka City Directory, and Business Mirror, for 1868-69 (Topeka, KS: Millison & Heil, 1868).

Sumner Material and Structural Analysis 1116 Madison: Supplemental Report, 3.

Ibld

LeW|s Bodwell to American Home Ministry Society, April 27, 1860, Lewis Bodwell Papers, KSHS.

Fry W. Giles, Thirty Years in Topeka, A Historical Sketch (Topeka KS: Geo. W. Crane & Co., 1886), 140.

% These include the recollections of Mrs. Andrew Ritchie, early area settlers Susannah Wemouth and James A.
Hickey, and Major Harrison Hannahs, to name a few. Additional discussion is provided in Section 8 — Narrative Statement
of Significance.
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building materials to determine a date of construction, the available information gleaned from the historic
record fails to offer any definitive answers. It is for these reasons that the nomination does not assign a
specific date of construction.

BUILDING DESCRIPTION
Exterior

At present, the building appears much as it did around the time of John Ritchie’s death in 1887. The one
exception is the newly installed accessibility ramp at the northeast (rear) corner. The exterior walls are
constructed of random coursed limestone blocks. The slake lime mortar includes straw and twigs indicating
hand mixing out of doors. Wood elements on the house are non-standard with varying dimensions, while some
display evidence of warping due to being installed green. As best as can be determined, most materials used
in the original construction of the building were native to the area. The limestone, which forms the foundation
and exterior walls, was likely taken from a quarry on Ritchie’s property in a ravine just east of the house.
Wood elements in the house — hickory, sycamore, white oak, walnut, hackberry, cottonwood, and willow —
were all locally available. The front (west) elevation of the structure displays a brick fagade. The brick used on
the west elevation was soft and lightly fired.

The nominated residence displays a simple rectangular plan, the core building measuring approximately 18’
wide by 30’ deep. The exterior walls are formed of tapered random rubble limestone blocks approximately 18”
thick, the taper running from 18” at the base to 16” at the top. Archeological investigations conducted by the
Cultural Resources Division, Kansas State Historical Society in 1997 revealed the north wall extended to a
depth of 61" with the foundation footings sitting directly on dense clay subsoil."" The west elevation is
distinguished by a brick fagade laid in a running bond and forming decorative quoins at the corners. At some
time after 1890 all of the exterior walls were covered with light-beige-colored stucco. When the stucco was
carefully removed by hand during restoration in the late 1990s, it was found that the original brick fagade had
pulled away from the limestone beneath and had deteriorated to a point it could not be salvaged. New bricks,
matching the original to retain the character of the original feature, were used to rebuild the outer portion of
the west-facing wall. There is an exterior door in the south wall of the east room that had been boarded over
for many years until the renovation in the late 1990s. There is no physical, photographic or other evidence
providing sufficient information regarding this door or exterior access to it, so missing features have not been
reconstructed. A ca.1932 rubble limestone addition to the east (rear) elevation incorporating a kitchen and
bathroom over an extended basement removed during the late 1990s restoration. '

At the time of the acquisition of the Ritchie House by the Shawnee County Historical Society in 1995, all of the
original exterior doors and windows had been removed and replaced with modern units with the exception of
the first level walnut door jambs and the two window frames in the east side of the first floor east room. Period
correct panel doors and six-over-six light, double-hung wood windows were replicated based on representative
examples, physical evidence of original size, and the ca. 1890 photograph of the building (Figure 3). The
windows on the west elevation retain their original stone lintels and hickory sills. Those on the north and south
elevations retain their original stone lintels and hickory and sycamore wood sills. The windows on the east
elevation retain their original white oak lintels and sills. The eastern cellar windows on the north and south
sides of the building had at one time been partially filled-in with concrete blocks. Although the precise date of
that alteration cannot be established, the infill of those windows was more than likely done during the ca. 1932
renovation of the home when the kitchen was relocated from the basement to a new addition on the east side.

" King, Results of Archeological Investigations, 165.

12 For information on the 1930s and other additions see Martin Jones, The Ritchie House, Narrative Report for
Evaluating Eligibility for the National Register of Historic Places and/or the Register of Historic Kansas Places, Shawnee
County Historical Society, April 20, 1998, p. 8; King, Results of Archeological Investigations, 165.
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A low-pitched hipped roof covered with 14” to 16” wide pine, walnut and oak boards remains. The roof
structure is supported by shag bark hickory rafters which rather than being anchored on the stone walls are
nailed to and carried by false white oak plates extending in from the eaves resulting in what was a marginal
roof system. The original roof shingles remain beneath a new wood shingle roof supported by furring strips.
The original hickory rafters and white oak plates also remain with a new roof support system having been
installed to stabilize the structure. The new construction was undertaken in such a manner as to preserve the
original historic materials and be differentiated from the original features. The red cedar eaves, soffits and
fascia are all original features and remain. There is a brick chimney centered on the building’s roof.

A small set of four concrete steps access the building’s primary entrance on the west elevation. This raised
entrance is at the building’s southwest corner. A double-hung wood window is adjacent to the north. The
second story includes the same fenestration pattern, a door above the primary entrance and a double-hung
window adjacent to the north. The only known 19th century photograph of the house (Figure 3) shows no
exterior porch or stairway that would provide access to this door. It has been suggested that the house did not
have interior access to the second level and that this second-story door provided the only access to the upper
floor. However, a physical examination of the west elevation revealed no ghost lines, pockets, holes,
protruding wood joists, or any other point of attachment which would support a second level porch. Remnants
of an angled paint line on the south wall was revealed with the removal of the stucco indicating that a stairway
may have run along that wall up to the second level at one time, but this has not been confirmed.

The north and south side elevations are nearly identical to one another. Both feature four double-hung wood
windows, two on each story. The basement story is partially exposed; both sides have a small above-grade
window at the west end and a nearly full-height double-hung window at the east end. The one difference in the
two elevations is that the south side features a door centered at window-height level between the first-story
windows. This door, which had long been covered by the exterior stucco, was revealed during the late 20th
century renovations. It accesses the interior staircase between the first and second levels.

The east (rear) elevation has an irregular fenestration pattern with five openings in all. The upper story
features one centered double-hung wood window. The first floor includes a door on the north and a double-
hung window adjacent on the south. In 2014, a wood ramp was installed to access this door. The basement
level is fully exposed and includes a door on the south and a double-hung window adjacent on the north.
There is no staircase or porch access to the first-floor door, but physical evidence of three wood extensions
protruding from the limestone wall to possibly support a porch floor providing access to the first level from the
ground remain. Any evidence of attachment points on the building, however, was removed when the exterior
of the house received the stucco covering after 1890. Because there is no documentary, physical,
photographic, or other evidence of materials used, construction techniques, or the configuration and
appearance of the exterior porches as they existed in the 19th century, the missing features have not been
replaced.

Interior

The building features a simple double-cell floor plan, with two interior rooms of roughly equal size placed one
behind the other and sharing a common wall containing a flue on each level. A third wall was erected on the
second level creating three bedrooms, and this remains. The partition walls in the basement and first floor
levels are constructed of the same rubble limestone as that forming the exterior walls. They are non-load
bearing, not being tied into the exterior walls, and have doorway openings connecting the east and west rooms
near the north wall. The partition wall on the second level is constructed of boards and is also non-load
bearing. An interesting feature on the second level is the two built-in clothes/linen presses that were part of the
original construction. The basement level retains remnants of wainscoting installed sometime prior to the
erection of the interior staircase suggesting its use as living space at one time. This physical evidence has
been left until more research on the use of the space has been conducted. The only original interior door
which remains is that on the second level leading into the east (back rooms). The building never had
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fireplaces, all heat being provided by stoves vented through a flue which ran through the central partition walls
and vented through the chimney.

The original sub-structural system supported lathe boards and interior plaster walls remains intact. All rooms
with the exception of the first level west (front) room retain plaster walls. The walls in the west room were
covered with sheet rock, which has been removed, leaving exposed the stone walls. It is not known if plaster
was an original treatment, but it was certainly an early and historic treatment through much of the house. Nail
patterns on the floor joists seem to indicate that the building as originally constructed did not have plaster
ceilings with all rooms open to the joists, though this is not documented. Access between all three levels of the
building is provided by an enclosed interior stairway located in the southwest corner of the east room. No
precise date for the construction of the interior stairs has been established.

Early in the building’s history, the basement floor was made of a thin layer of cement. A slab basement floor
was later installed when a water heater, plumbing and other utilities connected with the ca. 1932 construction
of a new kitchen and bathroom.™ The flooring system on the first and second levels incorporated white oak
joists on the lower level and sycamore joists on the second level, which remain in situ. Trade stencils
appearing on the joists and sub-flooring bear the names of Topeka Lumber dealer John Wayne and Company,
Leavenworth lumber dealer H. D. Rush, and Topeka builder Hugo Kullak.™ (Additional information about these
names is provided in the Statement of Significance in Section 8.)

House Lot Site

During the 1997 archeological investigations conducted prior to the initiation of ground disturbing activities
associated with the restoration of the property, two low, dry-laid limestone retaining walls were uncovered on
the north and south sides of the building. Both retaining walls abutted, but were not tied into the house
foundation. The two low walls may have been built at the time the original cellar walls were erected or after the
house foundation was in place. These retaining walls would have been visible on the ground surface and that
on the north side remains exposed.

A brick cistern was located behind the northeast corner of the building. This cistern clearly pre-dates the ca.
1932 stone addition to the east side of the building. The top of the cistern is missing and may have been
destroyed during the construction of the stairway to the addition which overlapped the southern portion of the
cistern. The location of the cistern is approximately 31’ east and 10’ north of the original door in the east
exterior wall of the lower level of the house. No evidence was found of a building above the cistern or of any
system for directing rain water runoff from the building. A single post mold was located on the south side of the
building a short distance down-slope from the south retaining wall. Without further structural evidence, the
purpose of the post remains unclear, though it could have been related to the door on that elevation. The
archeological investigations also identified a trash pit at the east edge of the back yard adjacent to the alley
behind 15116 SE Madison. Most of the artifacts recovered from this feature dates to the mid-to late-20th
century.

'3 patrick Sumner, Material and Structural Analysis 1116 Madison: Supplemental Report, 1998. Report on file at
Historic Preservation Office, Kansas State Historical Society, August 24, 1998, 1-2.

' John Wayne and Company was active in Topeka only in the mid- to late-1860s. H. D. Rush is listed in the 1863-
1864 Leavenworth City Directory as connected with the firm Ingersoll and Rush. It was not until 1868-1869 that Rush is
listed as selling lumber under his own name. By 1870-1871, Rush had formed the new firm of Garrett and Rush. Hugo
Kullak first appears as a builder in Topeka in 1860. He remained active until his death in 1873.

1 King, Results of Archeological Investigations, 165-167.
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National
Register listing.)

A Property is associated with events that have made a

significant contribution to the broad patterns of our
history.

X B Property is associated with the lives of persons

significant in our past.

C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
X of a type, period, or method of construction or

represents the work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant

and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

I:l D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information
important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations

(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)
Property is:

A Owned by a religious institution or used for religious
purposes.

B removed from its original location.

C abirthplace or grave.

D acemetery.

E areconstructed building, object, or structure.

F acommemorative property.

G less than 50 years old or achieving significance

within the past 50 years.

Period of Significance (justification)

Areas of Significance

Architecture

Social History

Other: Underground Railroad

Period of Significance

ca. 1856 - 1876

Significant Dates
1857-1860

1867

Significant Person
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.)

Ritchie, John & Mary

Cultural Affiliation

n/a

Architect/Builder

Unknown

Without a precise date of construction for the building, the beginning of the period of significance is generally defined
as ca. 1856, the earliest likely date that John and Mary Ritchie could have developed this property, according to the
various investigative reports produced in 1998. The period of significance extends to 1876 when the Ritchies
transferred ownership of the property to their son Hale, thus ending their direct association. Importantly, the period of
significance encompasses the years in which primary source documentation links the Ritchies to sweeping reform
movements in the United States including abolition, temperance, and women’s suffrage. It encompasses the
Ritchies’ pioneering efforts to establish the City of Topeka, their role in the struggle over whether Kansas would
enter the Union as a free or slave state, their activities in assisting escaping slaves on the Underground Railroad,
and John Ritchie’'s service during the Civil War when he rose to the rank of brevet brigadier general. Lastly, the
period of significance includes the post-Civil War era when Ritchie used the building to house both white and African

American laborers and craftsmen.

Criteria Considerations (justification) n/a
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Narrative Statement of Significance

Summary

The John and Mary Ritchie House is nominated to the National Register of Historic Places under Criteria B
and C for its local significance in the areas of social history and architecture. Under Criterion B, the property is
significant as the sole surviving property associated with John and Mary Ritchie, who were important figures in
the founding of Topeka, the regional network of the Underground Railroad, and in local reform efforts
concerning temperance and women’s suffrage. They were active in creating, shaping, and reinforcing
sweeping reform movements of the nineteenth century emphasizing racial equality and democratic ideals and
which sought to expand the voice in government to all people. Under Criterion C, the building is a rare
surviving example of vernacular architecture associated with the formative years of Topeka and Kansas
history. Although its date of construction is undetermined, the property is one of the oldest surviving buildings
in the city.

Elaboration

Brief Overview of the Ritchies’ Early Years in Topeka

The latter half of the 1850s in the Kansas Territory were pivotal and often messy years as forces on both sides
of the slavery issue forged constitutions and took the field in battle to determine whether Kansas would enter
the Union as a free or slave state. To a man, each stood for law and order, or at least their version of it. John
and Mary Ritchie stood in the middle of it all.

John Ritchie was born in Uniontown, Muskingum County, Ohio July 17, 1817, eventually migrating with his
family to Franklin, Johnson County, Indiana. In Franklin, Ritchie married Mary Jane Shelleday, the
stepdaughter of Franklin’s principal founder, and prospered as a saddler and real estate speculator. On March
12, 1855 Ritchie left Indiana for Kansas with his wife, four-year-old son Hale, and infant daughter Mary.'® They
arrived in Topeka on April 3, only a few months after the town company had been organized and the new
settlement on the banks of the Kansas River mapped out."”

The details of precisely where the family lived after their arrival in Kansas are not well documented, and
researchers have uncovered only bits of information about their early occupation, primarily in journal and
newspaper accounts. For example, “Various accounts gathered by Miss Zu Adams for the Kansas State
Historical Society and now a part of the Old Settler's Collection place the Ritchies [sic] earliest territorial period
dugout/cabin at 5th and Quincy and at 12th and Monroe.” '® Nevertheless, upon their arrival in 1855 the
Ritchies, typical of the pattern of settlement, lived in a dwelling meant to serve only as temporary shelter until a
more substantial home could be erected. The dwelling was located southeast of downtown, and it was
reportedly built with leftover materials from the construction of the homes of Cyrus K. Holliday and Fry W.
Giles." One account of the dwelling comes from Major Harrison Hannahs, who visited Ritchie in early April
1856 and described it as a “sod house about 12 by 18 feet, shingled with long prairie grass.”® It consisted of
but one room that served as the family parlor, dining room, kitchen, and bedrooms.

Regarding the availability of building materials, certainly by spring of 1856 timbers, shakes, clapboards, nails,
bricks, and stone were all locally available as well as the service of carpenters and masons. Among them was

® John and Mary Ritchie were the parents of 13 children (seven boys and six girls). Only two, sons Hale and John
Jr., reached adulthood. King, Results of Archeological Investigations, 19.

Wllllam G. Cultler, History of the State of Kansas, vol. 1 (Chicago: Andreas Publishing Co., 1883), 540.

Sumner Material and Structural Analysis 1116 Madison: Supplemental Report, 3.

° Cutler, History of the State of Kansas, vol. 1, 540.

2 “The Late Major Hannahs,” [Rome] New York Daily Sentinel, 27 February 1911, quoting an address Hannahs
delivered at Topeka’s Washburn College earlier in the same month. He died in Denver, Colorado 25 February 1911.
9
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the “Ritchie Co” which in September 1856 laid the first stone of what was to be a three-story brick commercial
structure known as the “Ritchie Block.” By June 1856, at least one 20’ by 30’ two-story brick or stone
residence was under construction, while by the end of 1859 nearly 100 buildings, erected at an average cost
of $900.00 each, stood in Topeka with four-fifths of them being made of either brick or stone.?’

The Ritchies were associated with the area southeast of downtown (in Section 6, Township 12, Range 16)
around the Shunganunga Creek early in the city’s history. Ritchie acquired a 38.61-acre lot in the northeast
quarter of the northeast quarter of Section 6, but did not register it with the General Land Office until October
1859.%% Ritchie’s next land acquisition consisted of two adjacent parcels totaling 119.02 acres described as
south half of the northeast quarter and the northwest quarter of the northeast quarter in the same Section 6.
The tract was initially registered as a military bounty land grant held by a Garret Vandiver, a private during the
Black Hawk War. Never settling on the claim, Vandiver assigned it to Ritchie who registered it in June 1860.%
His landholdings in the northeast quarter of Section 6 would include his farm, business, and land he would
later subdivide for development.

Construction of the nominated building could have started as early as the summer of 1856.% As noted in the
Narrative Description in Section 7, research strongly suggests that this building was in existence in much of its
current form by at least 1868, given the trade stencils/stamps found on structural lumber within the house.
There is little doubt that Ritchie possessed the financial resources to build a more substantial home shortly
after his arrival in the Kansas Territory. He had prospered as a real estate speculator and saddler in his former
place of residence, Franklin, Indiana, aided in no small part by his marriage to Mary Jane Shelleday, the
stepdaughter of that town’s principal founder. In the Kansas Territory, Ritchie, Cyrus K. Holliday and Franklin
Loomis Crane put up the money to purchase the floating land grant that settled the question of permanent
land title for the nascent City of Topeka. By September 1856, Ritchie had begun construction of a three-story
70’ by 100’ brick structure on the corner of 6th Street and Kansas Avenue known as the “Ritchie Block,” the
city’s first brick block which housed the first State Senate chamber.”® In 1858, Ritchie advertised his quarry in
the Kansas Tribune: “TO BUILDERS — The undersigned [sic] having opened a stone quarry adjoining the city
of Topeka on the South, would inform those wishing to build, that he can furnish stone in the rough or dressed,
on short notice. JOHN RITCHIE.””® The location of the quarry was in the northeast quarter of Section 6, and
this is important as additional research could uncover more information about the association of the nominated
building with the quarry business and Hale Ritchie’s later lime kiln enterprise, which also was located in the
vicinity.

The floor plan Ritchie chose for the nominated building, known as a double-cell, was a fairly common house
type in America from the colonial period up to around 1900. Double-cell is a form of domestic architecture with
two roughly equally sized rooms with one placed behind the other within the main body of the structure. The

%! See Franklin Loomis Crane Diary, April 19, 1856, Franklin Loomis Crane Collection, Box 2, Vol. 1, KSHS; Crane
Journal, March 21, March 31, June 27, 1856, September 21,1856, KSHS; [Topeka] Kansas State Record, February 11,
1860.

2 Bureau of Land Management, “Land Patent Search,” digital images, General Land Office Records
(http://www.glorecords.blm.gov/search/: accessed 8 January 2015), John Ritchey (Shawnee County, Kansas Territory),
Preemption Certificate no. 1065. Filed at Lecompton Land Office 10 October 1859.

% Bureau of Land Management, “Land Patent Search,” digital images, General Land Office Records
(http://www.glorecords.blm.gov/search/: accessed 8 January 2015), John Ritchey (Shawnee County, Kansas Territory),
Militarg Warrant no. 13494. Filed at Lecompton Land Office 1 June 1860.

4 King, Results of Archeological Investigations; Sumner, Material and Structural Analysis 1116 Madison:
Supplemental Report.

® A reference to the start of construction of the Ritchie Block appears in Franklin Loomis Crane Journal, September
21, 1856, Franklin Loomis Crane Collection, Box 1, Folder 9, KSHS; Giles, Thirty Years in Topeka, 257. The Ritchie Block
was destroyed by fire on November 28, 1869.

% Kansas Tribune, 6 March 1858, as quoted in Sumner, Material and Structural Analysis 1116 Madison:
Supplemental Report, 4.
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Ritchie house has two rooms on both the basement and first level, while the east room on the second story
was divided into two providing the family with three bedrooms. The center dividing partition wall held a stove
flue with a connection in each room all vented through the chimney.

There is an understated vernacular classicism of the design that was typical of the region as is implied in the
form rather than applied in the details. Classical ideals are found in the symmetry of design and its rigid,
rectangular form and the brick fagcade on the west (front) elevation and quoins in both corners covering the
limestone rubble walls while the low pitched roof and wide overhanging eaves conjure up images of the later
Italianate style of architecture. It is as if these classical elements were added as a visible statement of the
social standing and prestige of the home’s owners. As such, the Ritchie house represents both the reality of
the remoteness and harshness of the Kansas environment and the desire of Topeka’s founders to establish
themselves as a landed elite and distinct from settlers living at subsistence level at best.

Ritchie’s Involvement in Political and Social Movements

Although many had come to Kansas seeking opportunity and wanting nothing more than to live their lives,
John Ritchie was drawn to the Territory by a love of liberty and a desire to remake the world according to a
certain vision of the ideal society. Ritchie was a “Garrisonian” abolitionist, one who was distinct from other
opponents of slavery in their championing a broad activist platform that demanded not only the unconditional
and immediate end to slavery but temperance and racial and gender equality. Their highest allegiance was to
the government of God which required obedience to divine law and disobedience to the laws of man and
resistance to the laws of the slave hunter when their consciences dictated. But where Ritchie broke with the
Garrisonians was in their embracing of the cause of nonviolent resistance and reliance on moral persuasion to
carry the day. Ritchie placed his faith less in Harriet Beecher Stowe’s belief that “she could give the system a
more deadly blow, by sending Old Uncle Tom south to talk to the slave Holder in a pleasing and winning way”
than in her brother Henry Ward Beecher’s declaration that when it came to the slave holder, there was more
moral persuasion in a Sharps Rifle than in a hundred Bibles.?’

Soon after his arrival in the Kansas Territory, Ritchie’s liberal and humanitarian ideas surfaced when he
became actively involved in the temperance movement in Topeka. As was typical, the crusade was targeted
not as a punishment but at elevating the moral, social and cultural character of the individual as a necessary
step in creating an orderly, safe and industrious society. Ritchie attended a citizens’ meeting on May 14, 1855
with an eye towards preventing the sale of intoxicating liquor in the new town. Ritchie was appointed to a
committee to draft resolutions on the subject producing a document that condemned “the sale of ardent spirits
as a beverage to be pernicious to the community, an unmitigated evil” which produced “drunkenness,
debauchery and disorder on the Sabbath” and “corrupting the morals, disturbing the peace, injuring the
reputation and hindering the prosperity and growth” of Topeka. Ritchie and others pledged themselves to
enforce prohibition “peaceably, if we can forcibly, if we must.” Ritchie’s zeal for the cause did not go unnoticed
as he was appointed a member of a committee entrusted with the responsibility of judging any infractions of
the resolution. Later in 1857, Ritchie led a party of some 100 “prominent and respectable citizens” who
attacked several stores destroying some $1,500.00 worth of spirituous liquors.”®

Z William Lloyd Garrison was an American abolitionist who published the anti-slavery newspaper The Liberator and
founded the American Anti-Slavery Society. He also championed pacifism, women'’s rights and temperance. The quote
regarding Harriet Beecher Stowe appears in John Ritchey to Aaron Dwight Stevens, March 6, 1860, John Brown
Collection, Box 2, Folder 6, KSHS. Henry Ward Beecher’s statement regarding the Sharps Rifle first appeared in The New
York Tribune, February 8, 1856.

2 Cutler, History of the State of Kansas, vol. 1 (Chicago: A.T. Andreas, 1883), 541; Mary Ritchie Jarboe, “John
Ritchie: Portrait of an Uncommon Man,” ed. Daniel Fitzgerald, Shawnee County Historical Society Bulletin (November
1991), 61.
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In 1855, the year John and Mary Ritchie arrived in the Kansas Territory, a Free State Constitutional
Convention assembled peacefully in Topeka leaving some to prematurely announce the end of the question
as to whether Kansas would enter the Union as a slave or a free state. They could not have been more wrong.
Up from the south and out of Missouri they came, the so-called border ruffians in “their red flannel shirts and
revolvers buckled around them,” carrying banners screaming “No quarter for Free-State men.” At Lecompton,
the Pro-Slavery men forged a legislature which brought its wrath down on any who preached the Free State
cause and threatened to lead the Kansas Territory into the Union as a slave state.?®

The air was thick with intimations of last days. “Six feet of earth of a Free State” was how one of the most
notorious Free State men of them all, James Lane, saw it. Earthen walls went up around entire settlements,
and log houses were transformed into fortresses. “I wish you could take a peep inside our cabin”, Mary Titus,
wife of Henry Titus, who had arrived in Kansas in April 1856 at the head of a force of 1,000 southerners, wrote
from her cabin a few miles south of Lecompton. “You would find 15 U.S. muskets in one corner, half dozen
guns and Sharpe’s rifles in another, and any quantity of revolvers lying about here, there, and everywhere.”®

The Pro-Slavery men blockaded the Missouri River and hid in the thickets along the roads coming into
Kansas, plundering every wagon and traveler not “sound on the goose,” as the saying went. “There is not a
single sack of flour or a bushel of meal for sale in this vicinity,” abolitionist John Kagi wrote from Lawrence in
August 1856. The Free State men, their bellies grumbling from a diet of often no more than some baked
squash, pumpkin, and green corn ground up in coffee mills, retaliated by raiding Pro-Slavery strong holds,
seizing Iivgstock and supplies. Makeshift armies took the field and, at places like Hickory Point and Franklin,
men died.

John Ritchie rode with a Free State militia and in the summer 1856 participated in raids on Indianola and
Tecumseh and in the Battle of Hickory Point (Jefferson County, Kansas). On September 18, 1856, Marshal
Israel Donaldson backed by a squad of 200 U.S. Dragoons, nabbed Ritchie and eleven others in Topeka
accused of looting and participating in the fight at Hickory Point. Marched to prison at Lecompton, Ritchie with
some 132 Free State men, eighty-eight charged with murder in the first degree, hunkered down in the former
military barracks with no more than a blanket and only fifteen straw pallets among them, as young Missourians
with fully-cocked muskets kept guard outside.*

Standing before the court, Ritchie heard the charges brought against him. There was an Osawakee merchant
who swore that on September 8 and 9, Ritchie was in the company of a band of looters who helped
themselves to $4,000.00 worth of livestock and provisions. In the opinion of fellow prisoner Kagi, the proof of
Ritchie’s involvement in the raid was “irresistible” but were “it less so, it would make no difference.” There was
also the charge of freeing a prisoner. Ritchie came across the hapless individual convicted of stealing a horse
and bound with logging chains and forced to labor in a mill during a raid on Indianola. Ritchie admitted he had
set the man free but stated he had committed no crime as he refused to recognize the legitimacy of the Pro-
Slavery government and court that had arrested and sentenced the man. It was reported that in plain words
Ritchie stated the “so-called sheriff had no more right to the custody of the prisoner than he.” Even when
offered bail, Ritchie turned it down for to have walked out even a temporarily free man would have been to
recognize the authority of the court which intended to try him. Over the weeks the Grand Jury remained busy,
bringing new bills against Ritchie for robbery of the mail stemming from the raid on Indianola and then, after

iz [Columbus, WI] Republican Journal, September 11, 1856.
Ibid.
*1 John Kagi to Editor, New York Tribune, August 22, 1856
%2 New York Times, December 19, 1856; John Kagi to Editor, [Washington, D.C.] National Era, September 29, 1856,
Jarboe, “John Ritchie,” 29-31. Indictments brought against John Ritchie appear in Kansas Territorial Records, 1854-1861,
U.S. District Court Criminal Files, 2nd District, 27-02-07-04, Folders 24-25, KSHS.
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word reached the court that a Pro-Slavery man had died from wounds received during the fighting at Hickory
Point, for intent to kill.*®

Ritchie, however, had no intention of standing trial. On or around November 18, 1856, as the prisoners were
being prepared to march to the jail in the basement of the new brick court house in Tecumseh, Ritchie
escaped. Not feeling it safe to return to Topeka, Ritchie, aided by friends, built a raft and crossed the Kansas
River, making his way to his father’s place in Indiana.

Ritchie’s exile did not last long, and he returned to Kansas after outgoing Governor John Geary had offered up
pardons to a number of Free State men still languishing in prison in March 1857. Ritchie’s imprisonment and
life as a fugitive, however, seemingly took little of the fire out of his belly. Uttering nothing but contempt for the
Fugitive Slave Act and the “bogus” legislature sitting at Lecompton, John and Mary Ritchie and a handful of
other Topeka families turned their property into refuges for escaping slaves tracked by their owners, federal
lawmen, and the slave catchers prowling river banks and towns hoping to catch the fugitives and drag them
south for cash. In homes scattered across the city, lookouts nervously fingered rifles and pistols as others
prepared wagons to secret the fugitives to freedom. More often as not, the slave owners found themselves
frustrated in their attempts to recover their “property,” leaving Topeka, as one observer crowed, “sadder” but
“wiser” men.**

John and Mary Ritchie were crucial links in the Underground Railroad. In a battle in which those who sought to
bring Kansas into the Union as a free state were far from like-minded on the extent of freedom African
Americans should be allowed to enjoy, the editor of the Leavenworth Times singled Ritchie out as a “Radical’s
Radical” gifted with a “pluck which enables a man to take ground alone and on fixed principle.*

Twice in late 1857, the Ritchies heard the banging on their door and the shouts outside of federal lawmen and
troops demanding to be let in to search for the fugitive slaves they believed were hidden in the house.
Although there is no substantive documentation that the nominated building served as a station on the
Underground Railroad, there is a large body of evidence showing that fugitive slaves were afforded a
temporary safe haven on Ritchie’s property. There is a strong family tradition that fugitive slaves were hidden
out in a cave which contained a spring that served as the family’s water source, a site to which Mary Jane
Ritchie could go to and from on a regular basis bringing food and provisions to those secreted there without
raising the suspicion of anyone passing by. There was the family of five hidden in Ritchie’s sod cabin in July
1858, reported by Reverend Lewis Bodwell. That same year, Ritchie and several others set out to overtake a
slave catcher whom, with a fugitive slave in his custody, was making his way to the jail at Tecumseh. Although
the slave catcher eluded the small posse, the fugitive managed to make good his escape and along with
another fleeing slave who had been working in Ritchie’s quarry waiting to be moved north, made their way to
freedom. Mound City, Kansas abolitionist Henry Hiatt recalled making two trips to Topeka “in a close covered
wagon in which was secreted each trip two colored men-slaves” leaving them at “Col. Ritchie’s at midnight.”
Then on a Sabbath morning in January 1859, as Ritchie prepared for services, word reached him that
abolitionist John Brown, with a group of fugitive slaves, was north of town and surrounded by a posse. Only
several days before Brown and his men had been in Topeka where they and the escaping slaves had been
sheltered, fed and clothed before starting out on the next leg of their journey. Ritchie jumped up crying “there
is work for us to do.” He quickly put together a small force and rode out the next day leading a charge across
a swollen creek, routing the posse in what has become known as the Battle of the Spurs, allowing Brown to
continue on his journey. In his eulogy delivered at John Ritchie’s funeral in 1887, the minister, Dr. F. S.

% John Kagi to Editor, [Washington, D.C.] National Era, September 29, 1856, October 4, 1856, October 15, 1856,
November 5, 1856. Also see, Thomas Wentworth Higginson, “A Ride Through Kansas,” Anti-Slavery Tract No. 20, 1856,
KSHS.

* Richland County [WI] Observer, December 8, 1857.

% The Leavenworth [KS] Times, July 27, 1859.
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McCabe, noted that Ritchie often claimed he cost slave holders over $100,000 in human beings he helped
smuggle to freedom.*

As the decade came to a close, Ritchie participated actively in the Leavenworth and Wyandotte Constitutional
Conventions. In March 1858, he took to his feet in Melodeon Hall in Leavenworth and denounced any attempt
to introduce black codes restricting the freedom of blacks in Kansas. The following year, Ritchie served as a
delegate from Shawnee County to the Wyandotte Constitutional Convention helping to forge the constitution
that would finally bring Kansas into the Union free of the institution of slavery. Ritchie, wanting to create an
even more virtuous society, introduced a resolution prohibiting the manufacture or sale of spirituous liquors in
the new state. The measure was not adopted but on January 21, 1861, Congress voted to admit Kansas into
the Union as a free state.

Kansas gave rise to men like John Ritchie because slavery, the nation’s fatal flaw, was awful enough to breed
opponents of equal fury. And that rage could not pass unnoticed. Whether no certificate of pardon had been
issued in Ritchie’s name or the belief still existed that those involved in the “troubles of ‘56” should not escape
punishment, in November 1859, the law again came looking for John Ritchie on the old mail robbery charge.

Samuel Walker was as good a Free-State man as any. He had led a Free State militia and traveled Kansas
roads with John Brown, all the while with 36 indictments for murder, intent to Kkill, and other crimes hanging
over his head. Appointed a U.S. Deputy Marshal by Governor Geary, with the promise that he would never be
held to answer for past crimes, Walker set out in pursuit of a number of his old comrades, including Ritchie.
“Walker, | like you as well as any man in Kansas,” Ritchie spoke when approached by the lawman, “but if you
try and serve your warrants on me, by God, I'll kill you.” Walker, who knew Ritchie well enough to know this
was no idle threat, retreated.®

In April 1860, Deputy Marshal Leonard Arms arrived in Topeka, reportedly clutching 81 writs issued against
Free State men. Arms made his way to Ritchie’s house intending to bring him in on the mail robbery charge
and on a second charge of resisting arrest. Ritchie swore he would never submit to being dragged into those
old quarrels again. Arms issued an ultimatum, “you shall go with me, dead or alive,” to which Ritchie
answered, “it will be dead then.” Arms followed Ritchie into the house and into the back room uttering a final
warning, then “you will have to shoot quicker than | can.” Ritchie fired first, the ball entering Arm’s neck killing
him instantly.* Ritchie fled out of the side door of his house but turned himself into a local judge before the
night was over. On April 23, 1860, the Topeka State Record ran an extra edition providing a detailed account
of the incident and the sworn testimony entered as part of the coroner’s inquest.

% Mrs. H. C. Root “A Few Incidents in the Life of General John Ritchie,” April 27, 1903, unpublished manuscript,
KSHS; [Topeka] Kansas Tribune, November 7, 1857; Bodwell, “A Home Missionary Journey,” [Manhattan] Kansas
Telephone, August 1893; Harvey D. Rice, “Reminiscences,” paper presented to the Congregational Pioneer Society of
Topeka, Topeka, KS, October 9, 1894, reprinted in Shawnee County Historical Society Bulletin 15 (December 1951), 15;
Henry Hiatt, My Belief and Reasons Therefor [sic], typescript, manuscript division, Watkins County Museum of History,
Lawrence, KS; [Topeka] Kansas Tribune, November 7, 1857; The Topeka Daily Capital, September 2, 1887; Richard J.
Hinton, John Brown and His Men with Some Account of the Roads They Traveled to Reach Harper’s Ferry (New York:
Funk & Wagnalls Company, 1894), 223-224.

% F. B. Sanford, The Life and Letters of John Brown (Concord, MA: F.B. Sanborn Publisher, 3 edition, 1910), 339-
340; Kansas Territorial Records, U.S. District Court, Criminal File 27-02-07-04, Folders 24 and 25, KSHS.

% |n addition to the mail robbery charge, Ritchie was indicted on November 1, 1859 for resisting a U. S. Marshal with
a writ issued for his arrest on March 19, 1860. Kansas Territorial Records, 1854-1861, U.S. District Court, Criminal File 27-
02-07-04, Folders 25, 26 and 27, KSHS. For the shooting of Leonard Arms see, State Record, Extra April 23, 1860;
Topeka Tribune, April 28, 1860 and May 5, 1860; New York Times, June 2, 1860; Francis Vincent, ed., Vincent’'s Semi-
Annual United States Register (Philadelphia, 1860), 313; John Ritchie, “The Story of the Killing of Leonard Arms,” Topeka
Capital, July 30, 1881; Giles, Thirty Years in Topeka, 64-66, 140-141; Peter Bryant to Cullen Bryant, May 1, 1860, in
Donald Murray and Robert Rodney, eds., “The Letters of Peter Bryant, Jackson Count Pioneer,” Kansas Historical
Quatrterly, Vol. 27, No. 3 (Autumn 1961), 331-332.
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Several of the statements provide descriptions of the building in which Arms lost his life, and researchers have
debated whether or not the statements refer to the nominated building. In his testimony, Louis Switzer, who is
recorded in the 1860 U.S. Census as residing in the Ritchie house, noted that as Arms entered the house,
Ritchie backed through the west room into the east room and after fatally shooting Arms left through the south
door. Switzer also noted that Mrs. Ritchie was in the east room but ran out the south door of that room
shutting the door behind her. Harvey D. Rice testified Ritchie’s house contained two rooms on the first floor
and that Arms entered through the west door and was found dead on the floor of the east room. In an April 27,
1860 letter detailing the event, Reverend Lewis Bodwell whom was apparently not present during the shooting
described the encounter between Ritchie and Arms and included a rough sketch plan of the layout of the first
floor of the house showing a two room floor plan with one room behind the other. Bodwell’'s drawing depicts a
door leading into the west room and one on the south side of the east room opening into a shed or room
addition, as well as an exterior door leading out of the shed. Topeka founder Fry W. Giles’ also recalled the
shooting in his 1886 history of the city. While the address of the site where the shooting took place does not
appear in the historical record, the descriptions of the building in which the incident took place closely match
the floor plan of the Madison Street house.*

Despite the fact that Arms had two warrants for Ritchie’s arrest, they were not introduced into evidence at the
trial leaving Ritchie’s attorneys free to paint a picture of Arms unlawfully entering Ritchie’s house “with a drawn
pistol in his hand loaded with powder and ball.” Ritchie walked out of the court a free man, the judge declaring,
“in view of my responsibility to my God, my country, and myself, that John Richey has committed homicide, but
one justifiable in the sight of God and man.”*°

Ritchie resumed activity associated with his business after the trial. Prior to the shooting, a local newspaper
noted the various local building projects that were recently completed or underway, including “J. Ritchie —
Stone Dwelling, on Kansas Avenue.”" This brief notation seems to raise more questions than it answers and
does not provide enough information to draw conclusions other than Ritchie was busy quarrying and
buiIding.42 Additionally, Ritchie quarried and hauled stone to build a Congregational Church on land donated
by the Topeka Town Association. The Congregational Church was instrumental in the founding of Lincoln
College, for which Ritchie had donated land upon which to build the college. The doors would not open,
however, until after the Civil War in 1865. (The school’'s name was changed to Washburn College in 1868 and
to Washburn University in 1952.)*

With the outbreak of the Civil War, however, John Ritchie once again rode out from his Topeka home. He
initially enlisted as a private with the Fifth Kansas Calvary but was appointed a Captain in July 1861 and
shortly thereafter a Lieutenant Colonel, a move which angered some of the regiment who objected to what
they saw as Ritchie’s “tyrannical disposition.” Although Ritchie led several successful raids into Missouri, he
proved unpopular with the men under his command, who refused to elect him an officer of the company, and
his fellow officers who often found occasion to complain that Ritchie refused to cooperate or obey orders.

% Topeka State Record, April 23, 1860; Lewis Bodwell to American Home Ministry Society, April 27, 1860, Lewis
Bodwell Papers, KSHS; Giles, Thirty Years In Topeka, 140-141. Although no evidence of a shed or room addition off the
south door exists, archeological investigations located a post mold and suggest it may have supported a frame addition,
shed or porch associated with the door in the south side, King, Results of Archeological Investigations, 166

Topeka State Record, Extra April 23, 1860; Topeka Tribune, April 28, 1860 and May 5, 1860; New York Times,
June 2 1860.

*! Kansas State Record, 11 February 1860, page 5. This same article was reprinted on page 1 of the same
newspaper the following week (18 February 1860).

% This could have been referencmg the beginning of construction on their long-time residence between Kansas and
Qumcy on the south side of 11" Street, which was not completed until after the Civil War.

* Martha Imparato (Special Collections Librarian/Archivist, Mabee Library), Washburn University History: Chapter 2
(Topeka, KS: Washburn University Website, n.d), 1. Accessed online at <http://www.washburn.edu/about/files/washburn-
history-chapter.pdf>. See also, Cutler, History of the State of Kansas, vol. 1, 575.
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“Colonel Ritchie utterly refuses to obey my orders,” Colonel William Weer wrote and “is nothing but an
embarrassment to the service.” Finally in the spring of 1862 Ritchie was arrested for refusing to obey orders
after he dragged a Colonel with the Sixth Kansas Cavalry bearing the orders from his horse. The officer
ordering Ritchie’s arrest, Colonel William A. Phillips later released Ritchie but was heard to mutter “Ritchey is
crazy.” When Ritchie returned to duty it was not with his old regiment but rather as the temporary commander
of the 1st Brigade of the Army of the Frontier. Just prior to the end of the War, Ritchie received an
appointment as brevet brigadier general and mustered out on May 31, 1865.*

Shortly after the War ended, the question of Women’s Suffrage came officially to Kansas when the issue was
placed on the ballot by the legislature as a constitutional amendment in 1867. John and Mary Ritchie
championed the cause of women’s rights, a movement that promised to expand the American promise of
liberty and equality to women just as abolition had sought to bring about the uncompromising end to the
enslavement of African Americans. The origins of the woman’s suffrage movement, in fact, may be found in
the temperance and abolitionist movements which radicalized women who had little thought at first of
demanding property rights or the right to an education, much less the right to vote, but became involved in the
anti-liquor and abolitionist movements of the 1800s. Angelina and Sarah Grimke, Lydia Child, Lucy Stone,
Susan B. Anthony, and others, all came to the woman’s movement out of the antislavery and temperance
movements. When Susan B. Anthony and Elizabeth Cady Stanton appeared on a Topeka platform in
September 1867, the introductory speaker was John Ritchie. “Colonel Ritchie, upon taking the stand” the
editor of Topeka Leader remarked, “thundered out” his message which rather than terrify the gathered throng
succeeded only in eliciting “very audible snickers.” A year later, the Topeka Leader again mocked Ritchie
when during a suffrage convention, the paper noted, the “Suffragettes gathered themselves together and
chose one John, whose name was Ritchie, to rule over them.”*

Although the cause suffered a defeat in the November 1867 election, Mary Jane Ritchie called a meeting to
organize the first Woman’s Suffrage Association of Topeka with the first gathering being held at the home of
John and Mary Ritchie. Although the nascent association initially attracted little interest with only six or seven
persons attending, the organization lasted until November 1875 when it became affiliated with the national
organization. Ritchie also continued his temperance crusade, speaking out in favor of a proposed amendment
to the state constitution banning the manufacture and sale of alcohol in which he noted, not without some
pride, that he had passed through the Kansas wars and Civil War without violating the pledge of the Sons of
Temperance.*

Throughout the 1860s, construction continued on a new residence for the family on Quincy Street. An 1863
article in the Kansas State Record notes that “Col. Ritchie’s residence in this city, when completed, will be the
best built house in the State.” As late a spring 1868, however, another account of recent buildings completed
in the city dryly lists “John Ritchie’s — if he ever has chimneys built on it and completes it, which many doubt.”
The first reference to the Ritchies occupying the Quincy Street property, however, appears shortly thereafter in

** Information on Ritchie’s activities during the Civil War is taken from Bryce Benedict, “John Ritchie’s Civil War: A
Documentary History,” unpublished manuscript, Shawnee County Historical Society, Topeka, KS. Political foes of James
Lane accused him of covering up wartime atrocities committed by John Ritchie which were cited as the real reason Ritchie
had been removed from his command with the Fifth Kansas. See, [Mound City, KS] Border Sentinel, August 12, 1864.

%% Jarboe, “John Ritchie,” 58. See, Ella Seass Stewart, “Woman Suffrage and the Liquor Traffic,” Annals of the
American Academy of Political and Social Science, Vol. 56, Women in Public Life (Nov. 1941), 143-152; Blanche
Glassman Hersh, “Am | Not a Woman and a Sister?’ Abolitionist Beginnings of Nineteenth-Century Feminism,” Lewis
Perry and Michael Fellman, editors, Antislavery Reconsidered: New Perspectives on the Abolitionists (Baton Rouge, LA:
Louisiana State University Press, 1981), 252-283.

® Jarboe, “John Ritchie,” 61.
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the 172368-1869 Topeka City Directory listing John Ritchie as a farmer living at the “SW cor. 11th & Quincy
sts.”

Having occupied their new home, beginning in 1869, Ritchie leased rooms in the Madison Street house to both
single and married African Americans and whites. The 1868-1869 Topeka City Directory listed two black
teamsters, Joseph Ritchie and Nelson Ritchie, as well as one other black laborer at the Madison Street house.
The 1870 Directory reported two black teamsters as living on the property as well as a white family of three.
One the tenants that year was a young “mulatto” man named Nathan Holder, a former soldier making his living
as a teamster. According to Holder family lore, Ritchie offered to adopt the young man, whom had served
during the Civil War, and send him to college. Holder declined the offer but out of affection began using the
last name of Ritchie.*® Also in the late 1860s, Ritchie began selling and giving 75 to 100 foot lots many to
those formerly enslaved. Ritchie, one newspaper reported, “makes a present of the lot to every person who
will build upon it” refusing to accept payment “but gives a deed as soon as the house is built.” Fry Giles
recalled that Ritchie opened his lands to so many African Americans it “militated against the sale of lots to
white people.” The dwelling continued to serve as leased space until 1876 when Ritchie deeded the house and
lands on the east side of Madison Street to his son Hale upon the occasion of his marriage.49

On October 18, 1880 Mary Jane Ritchie died and was interred in a small cemetery her husband had created in
1855 for those without the means to be interred in the Topeka cemetery. The following year, Ritchie married
widow Hannah Beall of Cincinnati, Ohio. In 1885, Ritchie’s Addition and the adjoining Walnut Grove District
were incorporated as the City of South Topeka with Ritchie elected to serve as the new city’s first mayor.
South Topeka, however, existed only some two years, becoming part of Topeka proper in May 1887. By the
time Ritchie’s lands were annexed into Topeka, there was such a high concentration of African Americans in
residence that the Topeka Board of Education, which was legally permitted to operate separate elementary
schools for black and white children, opened the doors to two all black schools, Adams and Washington.
Neither of the schools, however, could accommodate the number of black students seeking to get in, and in
1889 the Board of Education purchased three lots from the Ritchie family. In September, the doors opened to
the new four-room brick Monroe School. More than 60 years later, students from a new Monroe School, built in
1927 on a site adjacent to the old building, joined with others from Washington School and the city’s two other
African American schools to file a suit in federal district court charging that the segregation of Topeka’s public
elementary schools violated their rights under Equal Protection Clause of the 14th Amendment of the United
States Constitution. On December 7, 1953, the U.S. Supreme Court heard opening arguments on five school
segregation cases litigated concurrently as Brown v. Board of Education, City of Topeka. On May 17 of the
following year, the Court handed down its decision. Speaking for a unanimous Court, Chief Justice Earl
Warren announced that state laws establishing separate public schools for black and white children denied
black chlldren equal educational opportunity and therefore violated those children’s rights under the
Constitution.®

*" The Kansas State Record, February 11, 1860, August 5, 1863; The Topeka Leader, June 18, 1868; Topeka City
Directory and Business Mirror for 1868-1869 (Topeka, KS: Millison & Heil, 1868). The Quincy Street house was razed in
the early 1940s to make way for an elevated water storage tank. See Topeka State Journal, June 27, 1941.

® Information on tenants is taken from, Topeka City Directory, and Business Mirror, for 1868-69 (Topeka, KS:
Millison & Heil, 1868); Biennial Directory of the City of Topeka, Embracing the Inhabitants, Business Firms, Incorporated
Companies and Manufacturing Establishments (Topeka, KS: Kansas State Record Printing Company, 1870); City
Directory of the City of Topeka; Embracing the Inhabitants and Business Firms (Topeka, KS: Southwestern Publishing
Company, 1871); Radges’ Biennial Directory to Inhabitants, Institutions, Incorporated Companies, Manufacturing
Establishments, Business Firms, Eftc., Etc., in the City of Topeka, for 1872-1873 (Topeka, KS: “Commonwealth” State
Printing House, 1878); United States Bureau of the Census, Schedule 1 — Inhabitants in 3d Ward of the City of Topeka, in
the County of Shawnee, State of Kansas, Ninth United States Census, 1870.

Wh/te Cloud Kansas Chief, February 1, 1866; Giles, Thirty Years in Topeka, 131-132.

% Record of Minutes, Topeka Board of Education, July 5, 1887, April 1, 1889, September 20, 1889 McKinley
Burnett Administration Building, Unified School District 501, Topeka, KS; Topeka Public Schools, 22" Annual Report for
the Year Ending June 30, 1889 (Topeka, KS: C.B. Ham|Iton & Co., 1889) 24.
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John Ritchie died on August 31, 1887. The Topeka Daily Capital of September 2, 1887 reported, “carriages
and hacks filled the streets on all sides” during the funeral procession while the “many colored people at the
services of him” gave testament to their recognition of a man who had done so much to remove the “galling
yoke of oppression” from them.”’

The nominated dwelling served as the residence of Hale Ritchie until about 1887 when he occupied a new
home built immediately to the south. Hale died December 26, 1920, and it appears that his wife assumed at
least some responsibility for the property. On June 22, 1922, Mrs. Hale Ritchie applied for a local building
permit to construct a one-story, wood-frame addition with a composite roof to the nominated building. The
proposed dimensions of the addition were noted as “No. Feet Front 10” and “No. Feet Deep 20.”°* No
additional information could be found to know where on the building it was proposed. The old stone house
continued to serve as a rental until just after 1939 when ownership passed out of the Ritchie family. The house
was then owned by several different families, including the Turners, John and Corrine Miller, Mr. and Mrs.
Frank R;(S:e, and Mr. and Mrs. Gene Schroer. And, it continued to be leased to tenants during part of the 20th
century.

In 1995, the house at 1116 SE Madison was acquired by the Shawnee County Historical Society which
planned to develop and interpret the site as an historic house museum. The Society embarked upon a project
to restore the building to its appearance at the time of John Ritchie’s death in 1887. Figure 4 shows the house
around the time the organization acquired the building. In the early fall of 1997, the Society contracted with the
Kansas State Historical Society to conduct limited archeological investigations at the site in order to gain
information concerning the construction of the house and modifications of the house yard, and to locate
subsurface yard features. The results of the investigations of the house contributed some new information
about its construction and use of the surrounding yard, and recommended additional archeological
investigation after the removal of later features. The Society has since produced a report evaluating the
eligibility of the site for inclusion in the National Register of Historic Places, a structural and materials analysis
report, and other documentation. The timeline below provides a snapshot of the efforts to study the house in
advance of the major restoration project.

Recent Timeline

1995: Shawnee County Historical Society acquires the property

1996: (January) Rockhill & Associates produces Ritchie House Cost Projections for SCHS

1997: Archeological investigation led by KSHS

1998: (April 20) Martin Jones produces report The Ritchie House: Narrative Report for Evaluating the
Eligibility for the National Register of Historic Places and/or the Register of Historic Kansas
Places

(May 4) Patrick Sumner produces report Ritchie House Roof Analysis

(May 18) Patrick Sumner produces report The Ritchie House, 1116 Madison: A Preliminary
Structural and Materials Analysis

1998: (August 24) Archeologist Marsha King produces report Results of Archeology Investigations at
1116 SE Madison (14SH370) Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas

(August 31) Listed in the Register of Historic Kansas Places

(undated) Patrick Sumner produces supplemental report to Material and Structural Analysis
1116 Madison

1999-2003: | Restoration of Ritchie House

*" Topeka Daily Capital, September 2, 1887.
%2 City of Topeka, Records of Building Permits 1880-1968. Located in KSHS Archive Stacks (25-10-10-02 to 25-11-
02-01) and microfilm reel MS 954-956 (1880-1925 only).
%8 King, Results of Archeological Investigations, 59.
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Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

Photographs

*Please note. The photographs from 2010 represent current conditions, especially where the interior is concerned; the
only exterior change is the addition of a temporary ADA ramp.

Photograph Log

Name of Property: John & Mary Ritchie House

City or Vicinity: Topeka

County: Shawnee State: Kansas
Photographer: KSHS: Sarah J. Martin (SM) & Amanda K. Loughlin (AL)
Date

Photographed: 14 August 2010 (SM) & 9 November 2015 (AL)

Description of Photograph(s) and number, include description of view indicating direction of camera:

SM:
1 of 18 West (front) and south (side) elevations, facing NE
2 of 18 West (front) and north (side) elevations, facing SE
3 of 18 North (side) and east (rear) elevations, facing SW
4 of 18 East (rear) elevation, facing W
5 of 18 Interior, first floor, west (front) room showing main entrance, facing SW
6 of 18 Interior, first floor, west (front) room, window and wall detail, facing N
7 of 18 Interior, first floor, west (front) room showing doorway into east room, facing SW
8 of 18 Interior, first floor, east (rear) room, facing SE
9 of 18 Interior, first floor, east (rear) room showing staircase to basement and 2" floor, facing SW
10 of 18 Interior, second floor, east (rear) room showing door to stairway, facing W
11 of 18 Interior, second floor, west (front) room, door hardware detail
AL:
12 of 18 West (front) elevation
13 of 18 North (side) and west (front) elevations, showing ADA ramp and facing SE
14 of 18 East (rear) and north (side) elevations, showing ADA ramp and facing SW
15 of 18 East (rear) elevation
16 of 18 West (front) and south (side) elevations, facing NE
17 of 18 Looking north at context to north of house; I-70 is in background
18 of 18 Looking SE at house in context

Figures
Include GIS maps, figures, scanned images below.
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Figure 1: Contextual Aerial Image, Google Earth, 2014.
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Figure 2: Close-in Aerial Image, Google Earth, 2014.
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Figure 3: Hale Ritchie House (foreground) with John Ritchie building in background. Photo date circa 1890.
Source: Kansas Historical Society, http://www.kansasmemory.org/item/207819.
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Figure 4: 1995 image of the Ritchie House, 1116 SE Madison Street.
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Figure 5: Sketch plan of the John Ritchie’s home, where he murdered Deputy Marshal Leonard Arms on April
20, 1860. Source: Lewis Bodwell to American Home Ministry Society, April 27, 1860, Lewis Bodwell Papers,
KSHS.
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